WATERWAYS: CAPTAIN GEORGE PERFECT
Cemetery Trail grave location Q
A walk around the cemetery will reveal a number of gravestones commemorating a ‘mariner’ or a ‘waterman’. Even after the railways had come to dominate passenger and freight transport, the country’s inland waterways and coastal shipping routes continued to thrive as the overall market grew – and they played a big role in Castleford’s 19th century economy.
The town stood in a crucial location on the Aire & Calder Navigation (A&CN) system, a busy transport artery linking the industrial West Riding with Goole and Hull. The first stretch of canal in Castleford – a short cut bypassing the weir on the River Aire – opened in 1699. Most of its route has long since been filled in and built over, because in the 1820s and 1830s the company made big investments to widen and straighten the canal and the final half mile of the River Calder, working to surveys and designs by the eminent civil engineer Thomas Telford. As part of this project, the A&CN also built new boat inspection, maintenance and toll collection facilities on Lock Lane, making Castleford one of the most important hubs on its network.
Although the great majority of the A&CN’s revenue came from freight carriage, for several decades Castleford also played a role in passenger transport. From the middle of the 18th century until the railways cornered the market in the 1830s, coaches ran from Leeds and Wakefield to Castleford, at which point passengers transferred to fast, lightweight ‘packet’ boats for the onward journey to Goole or Hull, from where further connections along the east coast, to London and to mainland Europe could be made. The transfer took place on the downstream side of Castleford Bridge, where the flight of steps which led to a wooden jetty is still in place on the south bank of the river.
There were 21 ‘vessel owners’ in Castleford according to an 1822 trade directory, while 1851 census listed 15 men in the town as mariners or sailors (which meant they owned a vessel) and 34 more as watermen (who crewed a boat owned by someone else), along with rope makers and boat painters. There was also a small boat-building yard alongside the canal to the west of Lock Lane, with the first launch, of a boat named Traveller, recorded in 1808 and the last, of the Hyperion, in 1874. For many years the yard was owned by the Leake family, then by Richard Cliff.
In May 1864, a boat by the name of Miranda was launched from this yard, an occasion which, according to the Leeds Intelligencer, was “witnessed by upwards of 1,000 Sunday school children, as well as a vast assemblage of the inhabitants of Castleford and neighbourhood”. The customer for the 84ft, 170-ton schooner was Captain George Perfect, arguably Castleford’s leading maritime business owner, who was also heavily involved in the wider commercial, local government and social life of the town. He was born in Castleford, in June 1829, into an old-established seafaring family. His grandfather was a ship’s joiner and his father, John, a vessel owner whose business took place along the Aire & Calder Navigation and up and down the east coast. The young George began employment as a boat boy at the age of 11, progressing through the ranks to seaman in 1846, mate in 1848 before becoming a master mariner in 1854.
The name of Captain George Perfect appears on many of the boards and committees which ran Castleford’s affairs in the later part of the 19th century. He was at various times a member of the Local Board of Health (in effect, the town’s first council), Castleford School Board and, appropriately, Castleford Burial Board, as well as being a Wesleyan lay preacher who, according to his obituary in the Pontefract & Castleford Express, “delivered his sermons with raciness and wit”. That same obituary also noted he was “always lively, if rather noisy, and many Castleford people will recall the old gentleman’s familiar figure with pleasure and interest”.
He married Ann Brough, daughter of a local butcher, in 1855, and they later lived at 89 Beancroft Road. They had no children of their own, although Ann’s niece Minnie lived with them from the age of 10 until she married 21 years later. George was a supporter of many charitable organisations, including the local branch of the Sailors’ Orphan Society and the Local Preachers Mutual Aid Association, and was a close acquaintance of General Booth, of the Salvation Army. “A philanthropist, he would, as far as he could, subscribe to every good cause, and do as much good work as possible,” his obituary writer concluded.
The Aire & Calder Navigation was the last of the country’s canal systems to carry regular commercial traffic. Coal was its principal cargo through the 20th century and continued until the rundown of the mining industry in the 1980s and 90s. Fuel oil and aggregates were also carried into the first years of the 21st century. The final coal traffic, from Kellingley colliery to Ferrybridge power station, ended when the boat hoist at the latter site was decommissioned in 2002, while regular deliveries of sand to a wharf at Altofts ceased in 2014. However, a flow of aggregates from Hull to Leeds restarted in March 2023 and there are hopes that more commodities will follow in the years ahead: Captain George would no doubt be pleased to hear this.
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